65,354

# FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 28 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN O'CALLAGHAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal From Denial of Motion to Vacate by the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Broward County, Florida, and On Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus

> DAVID LIPMAN Lipman & Weisberg Suite 304 5901 S.W. 74th Street Miami, Florida 33143 (305) 662-2600

STEVEN L. WINTER 16th Floor 99 Hudson Street New York, New York 10013 (212) 291-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN O'CALLAGHAN,	
Appellant,	
v. ,	CASE NO.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, John O'Callaghan, was convicted of first degree murder in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida, on April 8, 1981. A jury verdict that the death sentence be imposed was rendered on April 9, 1981. The court sentenced appellant to death on May 12, 1981. This Court affirmed. O'Callaghan v. State, 429 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1983). There was no petition to the United States Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari to review that judgment.

On April 30, 1984, the Governor of Florida signed a warrant for appellant's execution, which is currently scheduled for May 31, 1984, at 7:00 A.M. At the time the warrant was signed, appellant was without the benefit of counsel. For three weeks, volunteer agencies attempted to obtain representation for Mr. O'Callaghan; more than 75 lawyers in Florida, Washington, D.C., and New York were contacted. None would accept the representation. Current counsel did not receive the full record until May 18, 1984, and agreed at that time to represent Mr. O'Callaghan on an emergency basis. H. 8.1

A motion for relief pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850, together with motions for a stay of execution, for a continuance, for discovery, and for a hearing were filed in the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit on May 23, 1984. Because the

Citations to the transcript of the arguments below are designated as H. \_\_\_. Citations to the original trial are to the record on direct appeal to this Court and are designated as R. \_\_\_. Citations to pretrial depositions are designated as Dep. \_\_\_.

original trial judge was not available, the case was assigned to a new judge. H. 2. Oral argument was heard on the motion on May 24, 1984.<sup>2</sup> At the close of arguments, the court denied the motion for a stay, denied an evidentiary hearing, denied relief, but appointed counsel because of the difficulty of obtaining representation and the dearth of willing volunteer counsel in Florida. H. 61. This appeal followed.

On May 29, 1984, appellant filed an application for leave to file a petition for a writ of error coram nobis and filed an original habeas in this Court. The coram nobis petition is based on the May 22, 1984, affidavit of O'Callaghan's co-defendant, Tucker. In it, Tucker recants his trial testimony and affirms that it was he and not O'Callaghan who fired the only bullet to strike the victim. The original habeas raises a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was convicted of the first degree murder of Gerald Leon Vick, a reputed hit man known as "Ratface." The basic facts are set out in the 3.850 motion filed below and in this Court's opinion on direct appeal. O'Callaghan v. State, 429 So.2d at 692-94. For the Court's convenience, we set out below some of the facts that bear upon the issues now before the Court, especially that of ineffective assistance of counsel.

A supplement to the 3.850 motion, raising new claims and setting forth additional facts, was filed and accepted during oral argument. H. 3-4.

The central issues at trial concerned the relative culpability of O'Callaghan and Tucker and the cause of death. The victim's body was not found for almost a month; only the skeletonized remains were available to the medical examiner for autopsy. He found entrance and exit bullet holes in the skull, a bullet in the chest cavity, and a hole in the back of the victim's T-shirt. Based on this, he concluded that the victim died from bullet wounds to the head and chest. The medical examiner was unaware, however, of any of the events of the night of the murder. Moreover, he conducted none of the ordinary scientific tests to determine whether the hole in the T-shirt was caused by a bullet. 3 And there were no viscera to be examined to determine or exclude the possibility of another cause of death. Indeed, on cross-examination, the medical examiner was forced to admit that there was a possibility that death resulted from the beating administered in the bar by Tucker and Cox.

The defense expert pathologist testified that the victim was already dead when shot, that he died from the beating administered in the bar. He based this conclusion on the victim's age, the slightness of his physique, the severity of the beating, the great loss of blood, and the fact that the victim was not

The testimony was undisputed that the shots were all fired at close range. Amongst the standard forensic tests is one that detects residue or powder burns on clothing left by shots fired at close range. This test was not conducted. Because the T-shirt was destroyed by the state, it was not available for testing by the defense.

Thus, this Court's characterization in its opinion on direct appeal, that the defense expert testified that it could not be determined with certainty that the shooting was the cause of death, 429 So.2d at 694, is incomplete. Dr. Fatah testified that, in his opinion and to a reasonable medical certainty, the beating administered in the kitchen was the cause of death.

heard to breath or moan during the 30 to 45 minute ride to the shooting site. Because the T-shirt was cremated with the victim, it was not available to the defense to conduct any scientific tests to determine the cause of the hole or whether there was blood on the shirt.

It was undisputed that the victim was beaten in the bar, and that the beating was administered by Tucker and Cox. Although O'Callaghan was present during some or all of the beating, he took no part in it. Some of the witnesses testified that the kitchen was awash with blood. While some did not remember seeing blood, it is undisputed that the state forensic people took blood splatterings from the refrigerator at a height of three feet off the floor. Cox testified that, subsequent to the beating in the bar, the victim did not move, breath, moan, or gurgle. R. 752-54. Tucker's girlfriend, Cyndi LaPointe, testified that she thought she saw the victim's leg move in the van but that: "I can't swear to it. I looked back and turned back real fast." R. 783-84.

It was also undisputed that it was Tucker who had the motive. There was conflict in the testimony whether Tucker was armed when he entered the bar, whether he threatened the victim at that time, whether he or O'Callaghan took the victim into the kitchen, whether he or O'Callaghan shot the victim, and whether there were two or three shots fired.

On March 26, 1981, appellant asked the court to replace appointed counsel, Smith, with retained counsel, Seidel. The court allowed Seidel to enter an appearance, but refused to grant a continuance so that he could prepare for trial. R. 69, 86-89.

Instead, the court designated Smith and Seidel as co-counsel. Smith was present at trial but did not participate at all. Thus, when the trial began on March 31, 1981, the reality was that appellant had only one lawyer who had only four days in which to prepare.

As a result of this handicap, counsel was unable to review the extrensive pretrial discovery, including prior depositions and sworn statements, necessary to cross-examine the state's key witnesses effectively and competently on the central issues of the case. Similarly, counsel was not aware of and did not adduce critical evidence at the guilt/innocence phase when it was reasonably likely to make a difference.

Thus, LaPointe was able to testify at trial that she did not know whether Tucker was armed, that she did not see Tucker hold a gun to the victim's head nor hear him threaten to blow the victim's brains out, and that she thought she saw the victim's leg move while in the van. Had counsel read her deposition, however, he would have been in a position to impeach this testimony and adduce favorable testimony corroborative of O'Callaghan's on each of these factual questions bearing on the central issues: Was Tucker or O'Callaghan the main mover and when did the victim die?

At the argument below, the court asked counsel whether Seidel had in fact failed to read the depositions or possibly decided not to use them as a tactical choice. Counsel responded that he had not yet had an opportunity to interview Seidel, but that he stood ready to adduce testimony from the defendant on that point. H. 22, 35. Upon information and belief, it can now be stated that Seidel would testify that he was not aware of the LaPointe deposition.

At her deposition, LaPointe testified that Tucker was always armed, Dep. 16, and that he was armed when he entered the bar. Dep. 22. She testified that Tucker later admitted to her that he did threaten the victim when he entered the bar. Dep. 44-45. More importantly, her deposition testimony was that she thought that the victim was already dead in the bar, Dep. 19; the leg movement she saw was in the kitchen, and she thought that might have been a muscle spasm. Dep. 20. Indeed, she testified repeatedly that she did not see him move or hear him moan at any time thereafter, either while in the van or at the shooting site. Dep. 26, 45-47.

Similarly, counsel was not aware of and did not adduce at the guilt/innocence phase the testimony of the barmaid, Leslie Knuck. In deposition, in a sworn statement to the police, and at Tucker's parole revocation hearing, she corroborated O'Callaghan's testimony that, upon entering the bar, Tucker held a gun to the victim's head and threatened to blow his brains out.

During the trial, Tucker's counsel made a motion for the appointment of a psychiatrist to examine the defendant to determine whether there were any mitigating factors regarding his mental state that should be adduced at sentencing. Counsel for O'Callaghan joined in the motion and it was granted.

Nevertheless, counsel took no steps to take advantage of this opportunity to develop mitigating evidence: No psychiatrist was obtained and O'Callaghan was never examined. Had counsel read the depositions, he would have known that there was cause to do so: LaPointe testified that O'Callaghan was "a lunatic" and that Tucker said "that he was nuts." Dep. 5.

Counsel made no investigation and presented no evidence in mitigation concerning appellant's background or character. His only effort at sentencing was to belatedly introduce Knuck's testimony, after the jury had already determined that factual issue against appellant. As a result, this Court was able to observe that: "Appellant apparantly concedes that there were no mitigating circumstances." 429 So.2d at 697.

But there were; the apparant concession was counsel's, made out of ignorance, and not appellant's.<sup>6</sup> As part of his 3.850 motion in the trial court, appellant proffered affidavits setting out information concerning his character and background. They describe possible brain damage at birth, serious head trauma as a young child, near blindness as a child, a peculiarly harsh and alienating childhood, physical and emotional abuse in school, a family history of mental illness, and a drug problem as an adolescent. One of the affidavits is that of Dr. Dorothy Lewis, a psychiatric expert on the relationship between childhood abuse, neglect, head trauma, and mental illness and violence. She would testify that in her opinion there is a likelihood that appellant suffers from brain damage and mental illness, and that a thorough psychiatric, neurological, and psychological examination is medically warranted.

As argued in the court below: "Mr. O'Callaghan is obviously not a lawyer. That's why he needs a lawyer. He needs a lawyer to tell him what the law is, what defenses are, how one goes about putting them together. Mr. O'Callaghan cannot be expected to know what evidence is relevant in mitigation of this sentence.... The point is Mr. O'Callaghan is a lay person with no more than an eighth grade education, [he] can't be expected to know what kind of legal issue his lawyer ought to be raising." H. 39.

Finally, as part of his 3.850 motion and his coram nobis petition, appellant has included the affidavit of the co-defendant, Tucker. Tucker now admits that he fired the shot that struck the victim in the head. He also corroborates O'Callaghan's trial testimony that there were not two but three shots fired; he has sworn that O'Callaghan fired two shots that missed and then handed the gun to Tucker who inflicted the head wound.

#### ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN DENYING A STAY AND AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THIS CLAIM

This case is the first to come to the Court under the newly articulated standards for deciding claims of ineffective assistance of counsel as set out by the United States Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, U.S. , No. 82-1554 (May 14, 1984). The court below purported to apply the Strickland standard but denied a stay and an evidentiary hearing, reasoning that, "in light of" Strickland, "the waters will be more cautiously broken." H. 60. The court below explicitly deferred to this Court to determine whether a hearing should be had. Id.

The court below erred; in light of <u>Strickland</u>, appropriate caution dictates that this Court should grant a stay and exercise its measured judgment to consider appellant's ineffectiveness claim under the new standard. As we show below, the court below inadequately considered <u>Strickland</u>, ultimately applied the wrong standard, erred in denying a stay, and improperly denied an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

A. Appellant Is Entitled to Relief Under Strickland v. Washington, Which Replaces the Test of Knight v. State for Determining Claims of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel:

In Strickland, the Court replaced the exacting standards articulated by this Court in Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981), with a new standard. In place of a showing that counsel's deficiencies were "measurably below that of competent counsel..., Knight, 394 So.2d at 1001, a defendant must show "that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Strickland, Slip op. at 17. In place of a showing of prejudice "that there is a likelihood that the deficient conduct affected the outcome of the proceedings...," Knight, 394 So.2d at 1001, a defendant need only show "that there is a reasonable probability that ... the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, Slip op. at 24. As defined by the Strickland Court, this is substantially less than "a likelihood:" "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. Indeed, as made clear in the briefs before the Strickland Court, the Court rejected the standard of United States v. DeCoster, 624 F.2d 196 (D.C.Cir. 1979)(en banc), urged by the Solicitor General, Slip op. at 23, and upon which this Court based Knight.

With regard to appellant's challenge to counsel's effectiveness at the guilt/innocence phase, "the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have a reasonable doubt respecting guilt." Strickland, Slip op. at 25. The deficiencies detailed in appellant's motion meet this standard precisely. Counsel failed

to adduce evidence and impeach testimony that went to the critical factual issue in the case: Was the victim alive when O'Callaghan allegedly shot him? Counsel failed to adduce evidence that went to the central legal issue: Was Tucker the principal and O'Callaghan the aider and abettor or vice versa? The jury decided both questions adverse to O'Callaghan. But had counsel been aware of the prior statements of Cyndi LaPointe and Leslie Knuck that bore on both these questions, he could have put before the jury information sufficient to create a reasonable doubt. Appellant can show prejudice because he can show failings of counsel on critical points "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, Slip op. at 24.8

With regard to sentencing, "the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that ... the sentencer ... would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." Id. at 25. In Strickland, the Court found no prejudice given "aggravating factors [that] were utterly overwhelming" and the slightness of the proffered mitigation. Id. at 29-30. But, as this Court knows, the ag-

We say "allegedly," despite the adverse jury determination, because of the doubt cast by Tucker's confession that he was the one who fired the shot that struck the victim.

In setting the standards for determining prejudice, the Strickland Court noted that, "absent challenge to the judgment on grounds of evidentiary sufficiency," a reviewing court should presume "that the ... jury acted according to law." Slip op. at 24. As set out more fully in the 3.850 motion filed below, this case presents just such a challenge to the evidentiary sufficiency of the conviction. Thus, the determination of the prejudice prong of the the Strickland standard in this case will require the Court to tread in an area not yet charted even by Strickland. This presents yet another reason why a stay should issue: so that the Court can consider the novel issues presented by this case.

gravating factors in that case were extreme. Washington committed three murders, each of which involved brutal stabbings. One involved the shooting of witnesses, the victim's sisters-in-law, including the shooting of one old woman in the eye. There was robbery, witness elimination, torture, kidnappings, and the creation of a grave risk of harm to many persons. Id. at 1, 29. The deleted mitigation only involved prior good behavior and "emotional stress." Slip op. at 29.

In <u>Strickland</u>, moreover, the Court noted that counsel had a strategy: He knew the trial judge was disposed toward those who accepted responsibility for their acts and he decided to take that tack at sentencing. By not presenting the kind of character evidence submitted by Washington in the later post-conviction proceedings, trial counsel was also able to keep out rebuttal evidence that would have been harmful. He was able to keep out the defendant's "rap sheet" and to argue for the mitigating circumstance of extreme emotional disturbance, which would have been undercut by the lesser psychological evidence later proferred. <u>Id</u>. at 30.

This case stands in stark contrast. Counsel had no discernable strategy at sentencing, at least none that can be deciphered absent the evidentiary hearing denied below. There was no harmful evidence kept out by counsel's sparse presentation. The aggravating circumstances were hardly as overwhelming as those in <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>: the beating was administered by others; the victim was either dead or unconscious when shot; <sup>9</sup> there was no

As this Court has recently noted, the statutory aggravating circumstance of "especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel" does not apply in such cases. "Actions after the death of the victim

robbery or witness elimination; and there had to have been substantial doubt about cause of death. In addition, the potential mitigating evidence is much stronger: Even in the little time that current counsel has had on this case, we have been able to establish that O'Callaghan suffered a peculiarly harsh and alienating childhood, serious physical and psychological abuse as a child, a serious drug problem as a teenager, as well as having a family history of mental illness. Dr. Lewis's affidavit attests that there is likely evidence of brain damage and mental illness. 10

Moreover, unlike Strickland, where there was no jury at the sentencing phase, O'Callaghan did have a jury sentencing trial. The jury did not make any specific findings of aggravating factors; it rendered a generalized death verdict. Thus, we cannot know how many aggravating circumstances the jury actually found. Whatever the number, the jury simply had no evidence in mitigation to weigh on the other side. Considering that the jury might have found only one or two aggravating circumstances, the

are irrelevant to determining the aggravating circumstance. Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1983). Also, when the victim becomes unconscious, the circumstances of further acts contributing to his death cannot support a finding of heinousness. Id. at 1380. Jackson v. State, So.2d, No. 62,723, Slip op. at 8 (Fla. May 10, 1984).

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