65,354

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

)

)

JOHN O'CALLAGHAN,

Appellant,

v.

· ~ *

CASE NO.

MAY 28 1984 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

> By_____ Chief Deputy Clerk

FILED

S'D J. VentTE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD G. BARTMON Assistant Attorney General

SARAH B. MAYER Assistant Attorney General

MARLYN J. ALTMAN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel For Appellee

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

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT'S MOTION TO VACATE SENTENCE SHOULD BE SUMMARILY DENIED.

The standard of review, as stated by this Court on numerous occasions, in an appeal from an order denying postconviction relief under Rule 3.850, <u>Florida Rules of Criminal</u> <u>Procedure</u>, is whether the relevant records and motion for postconviction relief conclusively demonstrate that Appellant has no entitlement to relief. <u>Arango v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 1983); <u>Riley v. State</u>, 433 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 1983); <u>Francois v. State</u>, 423 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 1982); <u>State v. Weeks</u>, 166 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1964). It is submitted and maintained by Appellee that the subject motion, record and pleadings conclusively demonstrate a lack of merit on all issues raised by Appellant in his Rule 3.850 motion.

The argument made by Appellant, in his Motion, as "Points" A, C, D, F, G, and H, raise issues which could or should have been raised on direct appeal. Points B and E were in fact presented on direct appeal, argued and resolved by this Court. <u>O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 429 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1983). Therefore, the summary rejection of those claims by the trial court was entirely appropriate. <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 429 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1983), and cases cited therein.

A. Alleged Brady Violation

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that this Court seeks to address those issues which could have or were addressed on direct appeal, as to

their substantive merit, Appellee so addresses these points.

.

•

Appellant initially maintained that the inadvertent destruction of the T-shirt found on the victim's remains constituted a violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The essence of this claim, as stated at trial, was that all testimony derived from the T-shirt, for which the T-shirt would be "useful in direct or impeachment testimony," should be suppressed, since the State allegedly caused its destruction (R. 81-82). The United States Supreme Court specifically rejected the type of conclusory approach by defense counsel at the post-conviction hearing, and at trial:

> The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' [necessary under Brady].

<u>United States v. Agurs</u>, 427 U.S. 97, 109-110, 96 S. Ct. 2392, 49 L. Ed. 2d 342, 353 (1976). Appellant's argument, in his motion under review herein, merely spoke to the possible results of examination of the T-shirt, thus constitutes the classic deficiency addressed in Agurs, supra.

Appellant's speaking suppression motion suggested that there was "reason to believe" that the T-shirt was material to the existence and number of gunshot wounds (R. 81-82). However, the identity of the victim was ascertained through other means, by Louis Huey, and by Vick's family (R. 499-500, 692-693). As the prosecution argued, there were available photographs of the T-shirt, with full front and back views displayed (R. 83-84). Thus, on the Record, Appellant was not prejudiced by the nonavailability of the actual shirt itself.

Furthermore, the gist of a <u>Brady</u> violation, and the Constitutional principles such a violation involves, are not present here. The Court made clear in <u>Agurs</u>, <u>supra</u>, that the essence of a <u>Brady</u> violation "...involves the discovery, after trial, of information <u>which had been known to</u> <u>the prosecution but unknown to the defense</u>." <u>Agurs</u>, 427 U.S., at 103 (e.a.); <u>see also</u>, <u>Arango v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1983), at 1102. Since such a scenario did not exist in this cause, and since the State did not suppress or withhold evidence from the defense, that was shown to "tend to exculpate" Appellant, the allegations of Constitutional violations have no application. <u>United States v. Walker</u>, 720 F.2d 1527 (11th Cir. 1983), at 1535; <u>Agurs</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Brady</u>, supra; <u>Arango</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Appellant has further suggested that the failure of trial counsel to adequately address or pursue a defense was caused by the failure of said T-shirt to be available. This Court has specifically addressed and rejected such a claim in <u>Arango</u>, <u>supra</u>, by observing that the effective method for challenging such evidence, <u>when known</u>, is to file pre-trial motions. <u>Arango</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 1102. Trial counsel's reliance on the tactic of suppression at trial was therefore not inappropriate. The suggestion that trial counsel could not conduct his defense without such evidence, is conclusory and specious, and is not at all borne out by the Record. Arango, supra.

B. Alleged Prosecutorial Comments and Misconduct

Appellant's post-conviction claim, charging prejudicial prosecutorial comment, has already been directly and expressly rejected by this Court. According to the majority, on direct appeal, the complained of comments by the prosecutor were either related to collateral matters which did not impinge upon the determination of Appellant's guilt or innocence at trial, or were rendered completely non-prejudicial by the "overwhelming evidence of [Appellant's] guilt." O'Callaghan, supra, at 696.

In addition to the aforementioned comments, Appellant characterized the prosecutor's closing statements as a combination of distortion and improper bolstering of the credibility of certain witnesses. However, the prosecutor's closing argument consisted of proper comments on the evidence, including the potential bias of the defense medical expert, the lack of any "positive medical evidence" relied upon by the defense expert in reaching his conclusion, in as much as the basis of Dr. Fateh's testimony was his reading of depositions of the witnesses at trial. (R, 1043-1051). All of the alleged improper statements by the prosecutor can be characterized as proper and appropriate comments on the evidence presented. <u>White v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 1149, <u>cert. denied</u>, 449 U.S. 845, 101 S.Ct 129, 66 L.Ed.2d 54 (1980).

In fact, Appellant's reliance on <u>Hance v. Zant</u>, 696 F.2d 940 (11th Cir. 1983), in his post-conviction Motion, sup-

ports Appellee's posture on this issue. The comments made by the prosecutor therein were of a more serious nature, (expression of personal opinion to the voluntary nature of the confession, recitation of his personal background, and expression of credit to law enforcement agents who testified at trial). Hance, at 951. Of greater significance is the Eleventh Circuit's express recognition of the overwhelming nature of the evidence, as a factor in evaluating alleged prosecutorial misconduct. The Court applied this criterion in Hance to uphold the verdict, despite the "improper" nature of the prosecutor's acts and statements. Hance, supra, at 950, n. 7, and 951. The State's closing argument as to Appellant's specific acts and statements throughout the criminal episode were wholly proper, White, supra, and the effect of the substantive proof of Appellant's guilt has been completely ignored herein by Appellant. Hance, supra; Tacoronte v. State, 419 So.2d 789 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982); also, see Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 92 S.Ct 1056, 31 L.Ed.2d 340 (Fla. 1972); Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct 824, 17 L.Ed. 705 (1967).

.

C. Jury's Request for Re-reading of Expert Testimony

Petitioner's argument that the request by the

jury for the rereading of the medical expert's testimony, also lacks substantive merit. Florida courts have recognized a trial court's extremely broad discretion, in considering requests by a jury, for the rereading of trial testimony. Green v. State, 414 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 5th DCA De Castro v. State, 360 So.2d 474 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982); see also, United States v. Luesada-Rosadal, 685 1978): F.2d 1281 . In De Castro, supra, the trial court rejected a request for rereading of testimony, for the reason that "it was not practical" to do so, and that if any rereading was in order, it would have to consist of the entire trial testimony. De Castro, supra, at 475. In view of the trial court's similar reaction to such a request herein, (R 1130-1131), it cannot be said that such a decision was anything but an appropriate exercise of discretion, and cannot be interpreted as insidious or arbitrary. De Castro, supra; Matire v. State, 232 So.2d 209 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970).

D. Jury's Advisory Sentence

Petitioner asserts that the trial court, by informing the jury that its sentence decision was advisory, depreciated the gravity of the jury's decision making process and therefore rendered their recommendation of the death penalty unreliable.

Initially Respondent asserts that the language of

§§921.141(2) and (3) <u>clearly</u> indicates the jury's sentence is advisory. Sections 921.141(2) and (3) state in pertinent parts:

> (2) ADVISORY SENTENCE BY THE JURY. - After hearing all the evidence, the jury shall deliberate and render an <u>advisory sentence</u> to the court,...

> (3) FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF SEN-TENCE OF DEATH. - Notwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury, the court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death,... (e.a.)

The language of F.S. 921.141 is clear and unambiguous and the trial court's instructions were no more than a reiteration of statutory language; thus there was no error in giving them.

Petitioner cites <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) and <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1983), in support of his contention that a jury's recommendation is more than advisory and entitled to great weight by the trial court, yet he seeks to avoid the jury's recommendation sub judice.

Respondent further asserts that the trial court not only instructed the jury regarding the advisory nature of their opinion, it also instructed them as to the seriousness of their deliberations. Just prior to excusing the jury for deliberation, the trial court instructed the

jury as follows:

The fact that the determination of whether or not a majority of you recommend the sentence of death or sentence of life imprisonment in this case can be reached by a single ballot, should not influence you to act hastily or without due regard to the gravity of these proceedings. Before you ballot you should carefully weigh, sift and consider the evidence, and all of it, realizing that human life is at stake, and to bring to bear your best judgment upon the sole issue which is submitted to you at this time: whether a majority of your number recom-mend that the Defendant be sentenced to death or to life imprisonment. (R. 1167). (e.a.)

The respondent asserts that not only was the jury instructed in accordance with §921.141 <u>Fla.Stats.</u>, they were instructed that their decision would affect a human life; therefore petitioner's argument that the jury may have been influenced is without merit.

(E) Denial of Notice of Criminal Charges

Petitioner asserts that he was denied due process because he may have been convicted of felony murder, a crime with which he was never charged.

This Court has previously addressed this issue and stated:

We have previously expressly stated that "the state does not have to charge felony murder in the indictment but may prosecute the charge of first-degree murder under a theory of felony murder when the indictment charges premeditated murder." State v. Pinder, 375 So.2d 837, 839 (Fla. <u>1979).</u> See also Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976).<u>1</u>/Appellant, because of our reciprocal discovery rules, had full knowledge of both the charges and the evidence that the State would submit at trial. This is much more information than he would have received in almost any other jurisdiction, federal or state. We conclude that Appellant was not prejudiced by the manner in which he was charged in the indictment or by the instructions given to the jury on the crime as charged in the indictment.

O'Callaghan v. State, 429 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1983).

This was not a case where proof of an underlying felony was indispensible to the murder conviction. <u>Pinder</u>, at 839. Nor was this a case where the defendant was convicted of a crime never charged. <u>Presnell v. Georgia</u>, 439 U.S. 14 (1978).

^{1/}Both Pinder and Knight have been modified on other grounds by State v. Hegstrom, 401 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1981).

Furthermore, there was in the record overwhelming evidence that O'Callaghan committed the murder with premeditation. Premeditation requires that a perpetrator be

:

...conscious of the nature of the deed he is about to commit and the probable result to flow from it.

<u>Spenkellink v. State</u>, 313 So.2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975). In the instant case, O'Callaghan deliberately transported Gerald Vick out to a vacant area of western Pembroke Road, and fired two shots in the back of his head and body. There was no evidence showing a lack of conscious intent to commit this homicide. Therefore, felony murder instructions were harmless as the State could prove alternative theories of first degree murder.

(F) Sufficiency of the Evidence

Petitioner asserts that his conviction is based on evidence insufficient to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

During trial Dr. Gore, the medical examiner, testified that the cause of death was gunshot wounds of the head and the chest (R 698). He further stated that he found no other fractures present in the body of the victim and that the chance that the victim was killed by the beating was very remote (R 702, 717, 724). Cyndi LaPointe testified that she saw the victim's leg move and that she thought he was breathing <u>after</u> the beating (R 783-784). Co-defendant Tucker testified that he thought he saw the victim move after the beating (R 923).

While Dr. Fateh testified that he believed the victim was dead after the beating, his testimony was not based upon an examination of the body. Rather he testified that he based the opinion he had upon his reading of the autopsy report and the depositions of some of the witnesses (R 877-878).

The respondent asserts that there is evidence sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim was alive at the time of the shooting and that the gunshot wounds were indeed the cause of death.

Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.140(f) provides in relevant part: "In capital cases, the court shall review the evidence to determine if the interest of justice requires a new trial, whether or not insufficiency of the evidence is an issue presented for review." <u>See also</u> Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120, 1126 (Fla. 1981).

The respondent asserts that, in fact, this Court did find sufficient evidence to support the conviction of the petitioner. In <u>O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1983), this court stated:

> Further, we conclude that the evidence is sufficiently overwhelming to properly apply the harmless-error rule of Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 92 S.Ct. 1056, 31 L.Ed.2d 340 (1972), and Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 89 S.Ct. 1726, 23 L.Ed.2d 284 (1969). Id. at 696.

Clearly petitioner's conviction is supported by evidence sufficient to establish his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

G. <u>Application of the Statutory Aggravating</u> <u>Circumstance that the Murder was Es-</u> <u>pecially Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel</u>.

٠.

The instant issue was first raised on direct appeal wherein this Court found that application of the aggravating circumstance was correct. Since this issue had been considered by the Court on direct review the trial court properly refused to consider the issue via the motion for post-conviction relief. It is well established that a defendant may not use a 3.850 motion to retry issues previously litigated. <u>Thompson</u> v. State, 410 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1982).

H. <u>Denial of Motion for Individual</u>, <u>Sequestered</u> <u>Voir Dire</u>.

Once again this is a matter which could have been raised on direct review. A motion to vacate judgment and sentence cannot be used as a substitute for an appeal. <u>Goode v</u>. <u>State</u>, 403 So.2d 931 (Fla. 1981). Consequently, the trial judge quite correctly declined to consider this issue on motion for post-conviction relief.

But in any event, collective voir dire is completely proper. Rule 3.300(b) as amended July 18, 1980, effective January 1, 1981 (389 So.2d 610) sets forth that:

> The court may then examine each prospective juror individually or may examine the prospective jurors collectively. Counsel for both state and defendant shall have the right to examine jurors orally on their voir dire.

Consequently, it is clear that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in determining that voir dire would be conducted collectively. $\frac{2}{}$

I. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

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